to regard northeastern France as the vital area. And in that area, clearly no decision could
be reached.

To weaken Germany the Entente Powers began a blockade of the Central Powers,
controlling the sea directly, in spite of the indecisive German naval challenge at Jutland
in 1916, and limiting the imports of neutrals near Germany, like the Netherlands. To
resist this blockade, Germany used a four-pronged instrument. On the home front every
effort was made to control economic life so that all goods would be used in the most
effective fashion possible and so that food, leather, and other necessities would be
distributed fairly to all. The success of this struggle on the home front was due to the
ability of two German Jews. Haber, the chemist, devised a method for extracting nitrogen
from the air, and thus obtained an adequate supply of the most necessary constituent of
all fertilizers and all explosives. Before 1914 the chief source of nitrogen had been in the
guano deposits of Chile, and, but for Haber, the British blockade would have compelled a
German defeat in 1915 from lack of nitrates. Walter Rathenau, director of the German
Electric Company and of some five dozen other enterprises, organized the German
economic system in a mobilization which made it possible for Germany to fight on with
slowly dwindling resources.

On the military side Germany made a threefold reply to the British blockade. It tried
to open the blockade by defeating its enemies to the south and east (Russia, Romania, and
Italy). In 1917 this effort was largely successful, but it was too late. Simultaneously,
Germany tried to wear down her Western foes by a policy of attrition in the trenches and
to force Britain out of the war by a retaliatory submarine blockade directed at British
shipping. The submarine attack, as a new method of naval warfare, was applied with
hesitation and ineffectiveness until 1917. Then it was applied with such ruthless
efficiency that almost a million tons of shipping was sunk in the month of April 1917,
and Britain was driven within three weeks of exhaustion of her food supply. This danger
of a British defeat, dressed in the propaganda clothing of moral outrage at the iniquity of
submarine attacks, brought the United States into the war on the side of the Entente in
that critical month of April, 1917. In the meantime the Germany policy of military
attrition on the Western Front worked well until 1918. By January of that year Germany
had been losing men at about half her rate of replacement and at about half the rate at
which she was inflicting losses on the Entente Powers. Thus the period 1914-1918 saw a
race between the economic attrition of Germany by the blockade and the personal
attrition of the Entente by military action. This race was never settled on its merits
because three new factors entered the picture in 1917. These were the German counter-
blockade by submarines on Britain, the increase in German manpower in the West
resulting from her victory in the East, and the arrival on the Western Front of new
American forces. The first two of these factors were overbalanced in the period March-
September, 1918, by the third. By August of 1918 Germany had given her best, and it had
not been adequate. The blockade and the rising tide of American manpower gave the
German leaders the choice of surrender or complete economic and social upheaval.
Without exception, led by the Junker military commanders, they chose surrender.

Chapter 13—Diplomatic History, 1914-1 918



The beginnings of military action in August 1914 did not mark the end of diplomatic
action, even between the chief opponents. Diplomatic activity continued, and was aimed,
very largely, at two goals: (a) to bring new countries into the military activities or, on the
contrary, to keep them out, and (b) to attempt to make peace by negotiations. Closely
related to the first of these aims were negotiations concerned with the disposition of
enemy territories after the fighting ceased.

Back of all the diplomatic activities of the period 1914-1918 was a fact which
impressed itself on the belligerents relatively slowly. This was the changed character of
modern warfare. With certain exceptions the wars of the eighteenth and early nineteenth
centuries had been struggles of limited resources for limited objectives. The growth of
political democracy, the rise of nationalism, and the industrialization of war led to total
war with total mobilization and unlimited objectives. In the eighteenth century, when
rulers were relatively free from popular influences, they could wage wars for limited
objectives and could negotiate peace on a compromise basis when these were objectives
were attained or appeared unattainable. Using a mercenary army which fought for pay,
they could put that army into war or out of war, as seemed necessary, without vitally
affecting its morale or its fighting qualities. The arrival of democracy and of the mass
army required that the great body of the citizens give wholehearted support for any war
effort, and made it impossible to wage wars for limited objectives. Such popular support
could be won only in behalf of great moral goals or universal philosophic values or, at the
very least, for survival. At the same time the growing industrialization and economic
integration of modern society made it impossible to mobilize for war except on a very
extensive basis which approached total mobilization. This mobilization could not be
directed toward limited objectives. From these factors came total war with total
mobilization and unlimited objectives, including the total destruction or unconditional
surrender of the enemy. Having adopted such grandiose goals and such gigantic plans, it
became almost impossible to allow the continued existence of noncombatants within the
belligerent countries or neutrals outside them. It became almost axiomatic that "who is
not with me is against me." At the same time, it became almost impossible to
compromise sufficiently to obtain the much more limited goals which would permit a
negotiated peace. As Charles Seymour put it: "Each side had promised itself a peace of
victory. The very phrase 'negotiated peace' became synonymous with treachery."
Moreover, the popular basis of modern war required a high morale which might easily be
lowered if the news leaked out that the government was negotiating peace in the middle
of the fighting. As a consequence of these conditions, efforts to negotiate peace during
the First World War were generally very secret and very unsuccessful.

The change from limited wars with limited objectives fought with mercenary troops to
unlimited wars of economic attrition with unlimited objectives fought with national
armies had far-reaching consequences. The distinction between combatants and
noncombatants and between belligerents and neutrals became blurred and ultimately
undistinguishable. International law, which had grown up in the period of limited
dynastic wars, made a great deal of these distinctions. Noncombatants had extensive
rights which sought to protect their ways of life as much as possible during periods of



warfare: neutrals had similar rights. In return, strict duties to remain both noncombatant
and neutral rested on these "outsiders." All these distinctions broke down in 1914-1915,
with the result that both sides indulged in wholesale violations of existing international
law. Probably on the whole these violations were more extensive (although less widely
publicized) on the part of the Entente than on the part of the Central Powers. The reasons
for this were that the Germans still maintained the older traditions of a professional army,
and their position, both as an invader and as a "Central Power" with limited manpower
and economic resources, made it to their advantage to maintain the distinctions between
combatant and noncombatant and between belligerent and neutral. If they could have
maintained the former distinction, they would have had to fight the enemy army and not
the enemy civilian population, and, once the former was defeated, would have had little
to fear from the latter, which could have been controlled by a minimum of troops. If they
could have maintained the distinction between belligerent and neutral, it would have been
impossible to blockade Germany, since basic supplies could have been imported through
neutral countries. It was for this reason that Schlieffen's original plans for an attack on
France through Holland and Belgium were changed by Moltke to an attack through
Belgium alone. Neutral Holland was to remain as a channel of supply for civilian goods.
This was possible because international law made a distinction between war goods,
which could be declared contraband, and civilian goods (including food), which could not
be so declared. Moreover, the German plans, as we have indicated, called for a short,
decisive war against the enemy armed forces, and they neither expected nor desired a
total economic mobilization or even a total military mobilization, since these might
disrupt the existing social and political structure in Germany. For these reasons, Germany
made no plans for industrial or economic mobilization, for a long war, or for
withstanding a blockade, and hoped to mobilize a smaller proportion of its manpower
than its immediate enemies.

The failure of the Schlieffen plan showed the error of these ideas. Not only did the
prospect of a long war make economic mobilization necessary, but the occupation of
Belgium showed that national feeling was tending to make the distinction between
combatant and noncombatant academic. When Belgian civilians shot at German soldiers,
the latter took civilian hostages and practiced reprisals on civilians. These German
actions were publicized throughout the world by the British propaganda machine as
"atrocities" and violations of international law (which they were), while the Belgian
civilian snipers were excused as loyal patriots ( although their actions were even more
clearly violations of international law and, as such, justified severe German reactions).
These "atrocities" were used by the British to justify their own violations of international
law. As early as August 20, 1914, they were treating food as contraband and interfering
with neutral shipments of food to Europe. On November 5, 1914, they declared the whole
sea from Scotland to Iceland a "war zone," covered it with fields of explosive floating
mines, and ordered all ships going to the Baltic, Scandinavia, or the Low Countries to go
by way of the English Channel, where they were stopped, searched, and much of their
cargoes seized, even when these cargoes could not be declared contraband under existing
international law. In reprisal the Germans on February 18, 1915 declared the English
Channel a "war zone," announced that their submarines would sink shipping in that area,
and ordered shipping for the Baltic area to use the route north of Scotland. The United



States, which rejected a Scandinavian invitation to protest against the British war zone
closed with mines north of Scotland, protested violently against the German war zone
closed with submarines on the Narrow Seas, although, as one American senator put it, the
"humanity of the submarine was certainly on a higher level than that of the floating mine,
which could exercise neither discretion nor judgment.”

The United States accepted the British "war zone," and prevented its ships from using
it. On the other hand, it refused to accept the German war zone, and insisted that
American lives and property were under American protection even when traveling on
armed belligerent ships in this war zone. Moreover, the United States insisted that
German submarines must obey the laws of the sea as drawn for surface vessels. These
laws provided that merchant ships could be stopped by a war vessel and inspected, and
could be sunk, if carrying contraband, after the passengers and the ships' papers were put
in a place of safety. A place of safety was not the ships' boats, except in sight of land or
of other vessels in a calm sea. The merchant vessel so stopped obtained these rights only
if it made no act of hostility against the enemy war vessel. It was not only difficult, or
even impossible, for German submarines to meet these conditions; it was often
dangerous, since British merchant ships received instructions to attack German
submarines at sight, by ramming if possible. It was even dangerous for the German
submarines to apply the established law of neutral vessels; for British vessels, with these
aggressive orders, frequently flew neutral flags and posed as neutrals as long as possible.
Nevertheless, the United States continued to insist that the Germans obey the old laws,
while condoning British violations of the same laws to the extent that the distinction
between war vessels and merchant ships was blurred. Accordingly, German submarines
began to sink British merchant ships with little or no warning. Their attempts to justify
this failure to distinguish between combatants and noncombatants on the ground that
British floating mines, the British food blockade, and the British instructions to merchant
ships to attack submarines made no such distinction were no more successful than their
efforts to show that their severity against the civilian population of Belgium was justified
by civilian attacks on German troops. They were trying to carry on legal distinctions
remaining from an earlier period when conditions were entirely different, and their
ultimate abandonment of these distinctions on the grounds that their enemies had already
abandoned them merely made matters worse, because if neutrals became belligerents and
noncombatants became combatants, Germany and her allies would suffer much more
than Britain and her friends. In the final analysis this is why the distinctions were
destroyed; but beneath all legal questions was to be found the ominous fact that war, by
becoming total, had made both neutrality and negotiated peace almost impossible. We
shall now turn our attention to this struggle over neutrality and the struggle over
negotiated peace.

So far as legal or diplomatic commitments went, Germany, in July, 1914, had the right
to expect that Austria-Hungary, Italy, Romania, and perhaps Turkey would be at her side
and that her opponents would consist of Serbia, Montenegro, Russia, and France, with
England maintaining neutrality, at the beginning, at least. Instead, Italy and Romania
fought against her, a loss which was not balanced by the accession of Bulgaria to her
side. In addition, she found her opponents reinforced by England, Belgium, Greece, the
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United States, China, Japan, the Arabs, and twenty other "Allied and Associated Powers.'
The process by which the reality turned out to be so different from Germany's legitimate
expectations will now take our attention.

Turkey, which had been growing closer to Germany since before 1890, offered
Germany an alliance on July 27, 1914, when the Sarajevo crisis was at its height. The
document was signed secretly on August Ist, and bound Turkey to enter the war against
Russia if Russia attacked Germany or Austria. In the meantime, Turkey deceived the
Entente Powers by conducting long negotiations with them regarding its attitude toward
the war. On October 29th it removed its mask of neutrality by attacking Russia, thus
cutting her off from her Western allies by the southern route. To relieve the pressure on
Russia, the British made an ineffectual attack on Gallipoli at the Dardanelles (February-
December, 1915). Only at the end of 1916 did any real attack on Turkey begin, this time
from Egypt into Mesopotamia, where Baghdad was captured in March 1917, and the way
opened up the valley as well as across Palestine to Syria. Jerusalem fell to General
Allenby in December 1917, and the chief cities of Syria fell the following October
(1918)..

Bulgaria, still smarting from the Second Balkan War (1913), in which it had lost
territory to Romania, Serbia, Greece, and Turkey, was from the outbreak of war in 1914
inclined toward Germany, and was strengthened in that inclination by the Turkish attack
on Russia in October. Both sides tried to buy Bulgaria's allegiance, a process in which the
Entente Powers were hampered by the fact that Bulgaria's ambitions could be satisfied
only at the expense of Greece, Romania, or Serbia, whose support they also desired.
Bulgaria wanted Thrace from the Maritsa River to the Vardar, including Kavalla and
Saloniki (which were Greek), most of Macedonia (which was Greek or Serbian), and
Dobruja (from Romania). The Entente Powers offered Thrace to the Vardar in November
1914, and added some of Macedonia in May 1915, compensating Serbia with an offer of
Bosnia, Herzegovina, and the Dalmatian coast. Germany, on the other hand, gave
Bulgaria a strip of Turkish territory along the Maritsa River in July 1915, added to this a
loan of 200,000,000 francs six weeks later, and, in September 1915, accepted all
Bulgaria's demands provided they were at the expense of belligerent countries. Within a
month Bulgaria entered the war by attacking Serbia (October II, 1915). It had
considerable success, driving westward across Serbia into Albania, but exposed its left
flank in this process to an attack from Entente forces which were already based on
Saloniki. This attack came in September 1918, and within a month forced Bulgaria to ask
for an armistice (September 30th). This marked the first break in the united front of the
Central Powers.

When war began in 1914, Romania remained neutral, in spite of the fact that it had
joined the Triple Alliance in 1883. This adherence had been made because of the
Germanic sympathies of the royal family, and was so secret that only a handful of people
even knew about it. The Romanian people themselves were sympathetic to France. At
that time Romania consisted of three parts (Moldavia, Wallachia, and Dobruja) and had
ambitions to acquire Bessarabia from Russia and Transylvania from Hungary. It did not
seem possible that Romania could get both of these, yet that is exactly what happened,



because Russia was defeated by Germany and ostracized by the Entente Powers after its
revolution in 1917, while Hungary was defeated by the Entente Powers in 1918. The
Romanians were strongly anti-Russian after 1878, but this feeling decreased in the course
of time, while animosities against the Central Powers rose, because of the Hungarian
mistreatment of the Romanian minority in Transylvania. As a result, Romania remained
neutral in 1914. Efforts by the Entente Powers to win her to their side were vain until
after the death of King Carol in October 1914. The Romanians asked, as the price of their
intervention on the Entente side, Transylvania, parts of Bukovina and the Banat of
Temesvar, 500,000 Entente troops in the Balkans, 200,000 Russian troops in Bessarabia,
and equal status with the Great Powers at the Peace Conference. For this they promised to
attack the Central Powers and not to make a separate peace. Only the heavy casualties
suffered by the Entente Powers in 1916 brought them to the point of accepting these
terms. They did so in August of that year, and Romania entered the war ten days later.
The Central Powers at once overran the country, capturing Bucharest in December. The
Romanians refused to make peace until the German advance to the Marne in the spring of
1918 convinced them that the Central Powers were going to win. Accordingly, they
signed the Treaty of Bucharest with Germany (May 7, 1918) by which they gave Dobruja
to Bulgaria, but obtained a claim to Bessarabia,, which Germany had previously taken
from Russia. Germany also obtained a ninety-year lease on the Romanian oil wells.

Though the Entente efforts to get Greece into the war were the most protracted and
most unscrupulous of the period, they were unsuccessful so long as King Constantine
remained on the throne (to June 1917). Greece was offered Smyrna in Turkey if it would
give Kavalla to Bulgaria and support Serbia. Prime Minister Eleutherios Venizelos was
favorable, but could not persuade the king, and soon was forced to resign (March 1915).
He returned to office in August, after winning a parliamentary election in June. When
Serbia asked Greece for the 150,000 men promised in the Serb-Greek treaty of 1913 as
protection against a Bulgarian attack on Serbia, Venizelos tried to obtain these forces
from the Entente Powers. Four French-British divisions landed at Saloniki (October
1915), but Venizelos was at once forced out of office by King Constantine. The Entente
then offered to cede Cyprus to Greece in return for Greek support against Bulgaria but
were refused (October 20, 1915). When German and Bulgarian forces began to occupy
portions of Greek Macedonia, the Entente Powers blockaded Greece and sent an
ultimatum asking for demobilization of the Greek Army and a responsible government in
Athens (June, 1916). The Greeks at once accepted, since demobilization made it less
likely they could be forced to make war on Bulgaria, and the demand for responsible-
government could be met without bringing Venizelos beck 'to office. Thus frustrated, the
Entente Powers established a new provisional Greek government under Venizelos at their
base at Saloniki. There he declared war on the Central Powers (November 1916). The
Entente then demanded that the envoys of the Central Powers be expelled from Athens
and that war materials within control of the Athenian government be surrendered. These
demands were rejected (November 30, 1916). Entente forces landed at the port of Athens
(Piraeus) on the same day, but stayed only overnight, being replaced by an Entente
blockade of Greece. The Venizelos government was recognized by Britain (December
1916), but the situation dragged on unchanged. In June 1917, a new ultimatum was sent
to Athens demanding the abdication of King Constantine. It was backed up by a seizure



of Thessaly and Corinth, and was accepted at once. Venizelos became premier of the
Athens government, and declared war on the Central Powers the next day (June 27, 1917)
This gave the Entente a sufficient base to drive up the Vardar Valley, under French
General Louis Franchet d'Esperey, and force Bulgaria out of the war.

At the outbreak of war in 1914, Italy declared its neutrality on the grounds that the
Triple Alliance of 1882, as renewed in 1912, bound it to support the Central Powers only
in case of a defensive war and that the Austrian action against Serbia did not fall in this
category. To the Italians, the Triple Alliance was still in full force and thus they were
entitled, as provided in Article VII, to compensation for any Austrian territorial gains in
the Balkans. As a guarantee of this provision, the Italians occupied the Valona district of
Albania in November 1914. Efforts of the Central Powers to bribe Italy into the wear
were difficult because the Italian demands were largely at the expense of Austria. These
demands included the South Tyrol, Gorizia, the Dalmatian Islands, and Valona, with
Trieste a free city. A great public controversy took place in Italy between those who
supported intervention in the war on the Entente side and those who wished to remain
neutral. By skillful expenditure of money, the Entente governments were able to win
considerable support. Their chief achievement was in splitting the normally pacifist
Socialist Party by large money grants to Benito Mussolini. A rabid Socialist who had
been a pacifist leader in the Tripolitan War of 1911 Mussolini was editor of the chief
Socialist paper, Avanti. He was expelled from the party when he supported intervention
on the Entente side, but, using French money, he established his own paper, Popolo
d'lItalia, and embarked upon the unprincipled career which ultimately made him dictator
of Italy.

By the secret Treaty of London (April 26, 1915), Italy's demands as listed above were
accepted by the Entente Powers and extended to provide that Italy should also obtain
Trentino, Trieste, Istria (but not Fiume), South Dalmatia, Albania as a protectorate, the
Dodecanese Islands, Adalia in Asia Minor, compensatory areas in Africa if the Entente
Powers made any acquisitions on that continent, a loan of £50 million, part of the war
indemnity, and exclusion of the Pope from any of the negotiations leading toward peace.
For these extensive promises Italy agreed to make war on all the Central Powers within a
month. It declared war on Austria-Hungary on May 23, 1915, but on Germany only in
August, 1916.

The Treaty of London is of the utmost importance because its ghost haunted the
chancelleries of Europe for more than twenty-five years. It was used as an excuse for the
[talian attack on Ethiopia in 1935 and on France in 1940.

The Italian war effort was devoted to an attempt to force the Habsburg forces back
from the head of the Adriatic Sea. In a series of at least twelve battles on the Isonzo
River, on very difficult terrain, the Italians were notably unsuccessful. In the autumn of
1917 Germany gave the Austrians sufficient reinforcements to allow them to break
through on to the rear of the Italian lines at Caporetto. The Italian defense collapsed and
was reestablished along the Piave River only after losses of over 600,000 men, the
majority by desertion. Austria was unable to pursue this advantage because of her war-



weariness, her inability to mobilize her domestic economy successfully for war purposes,
and, above all, by the growing unrest of the nationalities subject to Habsburg rule. These
groups set up governmental committees in Entente capitals and organized "Legions" to
fight on the Entente side. Italy organized a great meeting of these peoples at Rome in
April 1918. They signed the "Pact of Rome," promising to work for self-determination of
subject peoples and agreeing to draw the frontier between the Italians and the South Slavs
on nationality lines.

Russia, like Romania, was forced out of the war in 1917, and forced to sign a separate
peace by Germany in 1918. The Russian attack on Germany in 1914 had been completely
shattered at the battles of Tannenberg and the Masurian Lakes in August and September,
but their ability to hold their own against Austrian forces in Galicia made it impossible to
bring the war in the east to a conclusion. Russian casualties were very heavy because of
inadequate supplies and munitions, while the Austrians lost considerable forces,
especially of Slavs, by desertion to the Russians. This last factor made it possible for
Russia to organize a "Czech Legion" of over 100,000 men. German reinforcements to the
Austrian front in Galicia in 1915 made possible a great Austro-German offensive which
crossed Galicia and by September had taken all of Poland and Lithuania. In these
operations the Russians lost about a million men. They lost a million more in the
"Brusilov" counterattack in 1916 which reached the Carpathians before it was stopped by
the arrival of German reinforcements from France. By this time the prestige of the czarist
government had fallen so low that it was easily replaced by a parliamentary government
under Kerensky in March 1917. The new government tried to carry on the war, but
misjudged the temper of the Russian people. As a result the extreme Communist group,
known as Bolsheviks, were able to seize the government in November 1917, and hold it
by promising the weary Russian people both peace and land. The German demands,
dictated by the German General Staff, were so severe that the Bolsheviks refused to sign
a formal peace, but on March 3, 1918, were forced to accept the Treaty of Brest-Litovsk.
By this treaty Russia lost Finland, Lithuania, the Baltic Provinces, Poland, the Ukraine
and Transcaucasia. German efforts to exploit these areas in an economic sense during the
war were not successful.

The Japanese intervention in the war on August 23, 1914, was determined completely
by its ambitions in the Far East and the Pacific area. It intended to use the opportunity
arising from the Great Powers' concern with Europe to win concessions from China and
Russia and to replace Germany, not only in its colonial possessions in the East but also to
take over its commercial position so far as possible. The German island colonies north of
the equator were seized at once, and the German concession at Kiaochow was captured
after a brief siege. In January 1915, "Twenty-one Demands" were presented to China in
the form of an ultimatum, and largely accepted. These demands covered accession to the
German position in Shantung, extension of Japanese leases in Manchuria, with complete
commercial liberty for the Japanese in that area, extensive rights in certain existing iron
and steel enterprises of North China, and the closing of China's coast to any future
foreign concessions. A demand for the use of Japanese advisers in Chinese political,
military, and financial matters was rejected, and withdrawn. On July 3, 1916, Japan won
Russian recognition of its new position in China in return for her recognition of the



Russian penetration into Outer Mongolia. New concessions were won from China in
February 1917, and accepted by the United States in November in the so-called Lansing-
Ishii Notes. In these notes the Japanese gave verbal support to the American insistence on
the maintenance of China's territorial integrity, political independence, and the "Open
Door" policy in commercial matters.

The outbreak of the Bolshevik Revolution in Russia, followed by the German victory
over that country, and the beginning of civil war, gave the Japanese an opportunity in the
Far East which they did not hesitate to exploit. With the support of Great Britain and the
United States, they landed at Vladivostok in April 1918, and began to move westward
along the route of the Trans-Siberian Railway. The Czech Legion on the Russian front
had already rebelled against Bolshevik rule and was fighting its way eastward along the
same railroad. The Czechs were eventually evacuated to Europe, while the Japanese
continued to hold the eastern end of the railroad, and gave support to the anti-Bolshevik
factions in the civil war. After a year or more of confused fighting, it became clear that
the anti-Bolshevik factions would be defeated and that the Japanese could expect no
further concessions from the Bolsheviks. Accordingly, they evacuated Vladivostok in
October 1922.

Undoubtedly, the most numerous diplomatic agreements of the wartime period were
concerned with the disposition of the Ottoman Empire. As early as February 1915, Russia
and France signed an agreement by which Russia was given a free hand in the East in
return for giving France a free hand in the West. This meant that Russia could annex
Constantinople and block the movement for an independent Poland, while France could
take Alsace-Lorraine from Germany and set up a new, independent state under French
influence in the Rhineland. A month later, in March 1915, Britain and France agreed to
allow Russia to annex the Straits and Constantinople. The immediate activities of the
Entente Powers, however, were devoted to plans to encourage the Arabs to rebel against
the sultan's authority or at least abstain from supporting his war efforts. The chances of
success in these activities were increased hy the fact that the Arabian portions of the
Ottoman Empire, while nominally subject to the sultan, were already breaking up into
numerous petty spheres of authority, some virtually independent. The Arabs, who were a
completely separate people from the Turks, speaking a Semitic rather than a Ural-Altaic
language and who had remained largely nomadic in their mode of life while the Turks
had become almost completely a peasant people, were united to the Ottoman peoples by
little more than their common allegiance to the Muslim religion. This connection had
been weakened by the efforts to secularize the Ottoman state and by the growth of
Turkish nationalism which called forth a spirit of Arabic nationalism as a reaction to it.

In 1915-1916 the British high commissioner in Egypt, Sir Henry McMahon, entered
into correspondence with the Sherif Hussein of Mecca. While no binding agreement was
signed, the gist of their discussions was that Britain would recognize the independence of
the Arabs if they revolted against Turkey. The area covered by the agreement included
those parts of the Ottoman Empire south of the 37th degree of latitude except Adana,
Alexandretta, and "those portions of Syria lying to the west of the districts of Damascus,
Homs, Hama, and Aleppo, [which] cannot be said to be purely Arab." In addition, Aden



was excepted, while Baghdad and Basra were to have a "special administration.” The
rights of France in the whole area were reserved, the existing British agreements with
various local sultans along the shores of the Persian Gulf were to be maintained, and
Hussein was to use British advisers exclusively after the war. Extended controversy has
risen from this division of areas, the chief point at issue being whether the statement as
worded included Palestine in the area which was granted to the Arabs or in the area
which was reserved. The interpretation of these terms to exclude Palestine from Arab
hands was subsequently made by McMahon on several occasions after 1922 and most
explicitly in 1937.

While McMahon was negotiating with Hussein, the Government of India, through
Percy Cox, was negotiating with Ibn-Saud of Nejd, and, in an agreement of December 26,
1915, recognized his independence in return for a promise of neutrality in the war.
Shortly afterward, on May 16, 1916, an agreement, known as the Sykes-Picot agreement
from the names of the chief negotiators, was signed between Russia, France, and Britain.
Early in 1917 Italy was added to the settlement. It partitioned the Ottoman Empire in
such a way that little was left to the Turks except the area within 200 or 250 miles of
Ankara. Russia was to get Constantinople and the Straits, as well as northeastern
Anatolia, including the Black Sea coast; Italy was to get the southwestern coast of
Anatolia from Smyrna to Adalia; France was to get most of eastern Anatolia, including
Mersin, Adana, and Cilicia, as well as Kurdistan, Alexandretta, Syria, and northern
Mesopotamia, including Mosul; Britain was to get the Levant from Gaza south to the Red
Sea, Transjordan, most of the Syrian Desert, all of Mesopotamia south of Kirkuk
(including Baghdad and Basra), and most of the Persian Gulf coast of Arabia. It was also
envisaged that western Anatolia around Smyrna would go to Greece. The Holy Land
itself was to be internationalized.

The next document concerned with the disposition of the Ottoman Empire was the
famous "Balfour Declaration" of November 1917. Probably no document of the wartime
period, except Wilson's Fourteen Points, has given rise to more disputes than this brief
statement of less than eleven lines. Much of the controversy arises from the belief that it
promised something to somebody and that this promise was in conflict with other
promises, notably with the "McMahon Pledge" to Sherif Hussein. The Balfour
Declaration took the form of a letter from British Foreign Secretary Arthur James Balfour
to Lord Rothschild, one of the leading figures in the British Zionist movement. This
movement, which was much stronger in Austria and Germany than in Britain, had
aspirations for creating in Palestine, or perhaps elsewhere, some territory to which
refugees from anti-Semitic persecution or other Jews could go to find "a national home."
Balfour's letter said, "His Majesty's Government view with favor the establishment in
Palestine of a national home for the Jewish people and will use their best endeavours to
facilitate the achievement of this object, it being clearly understood that nothing shall be
done which may prejudice the civil and religious rights of existing non-Jewish
communities in Palestine, or the rights and political status enjoyed by Jews in any other
country." It is to be noted that this was neither an agreement nor a promise but merely a
unilateral declaration, that it did not promise a Jewish state in Palestine or even Palestine
as a home for the Jews, but merely proposed such a home in Palestine, and that it



reserved certain rights for the existing groups in the area. Hussein was so distressed when
he heard of it that he asked for an explanation, and was assured by D. G. Hogarth, on
behalf of the British government, that "Jewish settlement in Palestine would only be
allowed in so far as would be consistent with the political and economic freedom of the
Arab population.” This reassurance apparently was acceptable to Hussein, but doubts
continued among other Arab leaders. In answer to a request from seven such leaders, on
June 16, 1918, Britain gave a public answer which divided the Arab territories into three
parts: (a) the Arabian peninsula from Aden to Akabah (at the head of the Red Sea), where
the "complete and sovereign independence of the Arabs" was recognized; (b) the area
under British military occupation, covering southern Palestine and southern
Mesopotamia, where Britain accepted the principle that government should be based "on
the consent of the governed"; and (c) the area still under Turkish control, including Syria
and northern Mesopotamia, where Britain assumed the obligation to strive for "freedom
and independence.” Somewhat similar in tone was a joint Anglo-French Declaration of
November 7, 1918, just four days before hostilities ended in the war. It promised "the
complete and final liberation of the peoples who have for so long been oppressed by the
Turk and the setting up of national governments and administrations that shall derive
their authority from the free exercise of the initiative and choice of the indigenous
populations.”

There have been extended discussions of the compatibility of the various agreements
and statements made by the Great Powers regarding the disposition of the Ottoman
Empire after the war. This is a difficult problem in view of the inaccuracy and ambiguity
of the wording of most of these documents. On the other hand, certain facts are quite
evident. There is a sharp contrast between the imperialist avarice to be found in the secret
agreements like Sykes-Picot and the altruistic tone of the publicly issued statements;
there is also a sharp contrast between the tenor of the British negotiations with the Jews
and those with the Arabs regarding the disposition of Palestine, with the result that Jews
and Arabs were each justified in believing that Britain would promote their conflicting
political ambitions in that area: these beliefs, whether based on misunderstanding or
deliberate deception, subsequently served to reduce the stature of Britain in the eyes of
both groups, although both had previously held a higher opinion of British fairness and
generosity than of any other Power; lastly, the raising of false Arab hopes and the failure
to reach any clear and honest understanding regarding Syria led to a long period of
conflict between the Syrians and the French government, which held the area as a
mandate of the League of Nations after 1923.

As a result of his understanding of the negotiations with McMahon, Hussein began an
Arab revolt against Turkey on June 5, 1916. From that point on, he received a subsidy of
£225,000 a month from Britain. The famous T. E. Lawrence, known as "Lawrence of
Arabia,"” who had been an archaeologist in the Near East in 1914, had nothing to do with
the negotiations with Hussein, and did not join the revolt until October 1916. When
Hussein did not obtain the concessions he expected at the Paris Peace Conference of
1919, Lawrence sickened of the whole affair and eventually changed his name to Shaw
and tried to vanish from public view.



The Arab territories remained under military occupation until the legal establishment
of peace with Turkey in 1923. Arabia itself was under a number of sheiks, of which the
chief were Hussein in Hejaz and Ibn-Saud in Nejd. Palestine and Mesopotamia (now
called Iraq) were under British military occupation. The coast of Syria was under French
military occupation, while the interior of Syria (including the Aleppo-Damascus railway
line) and Transjordan were under an Arab force led by Emir Feisal, third son of Hussein
of Mecca. Although an American commission of inquiry, known as the King-Crane
Commission (1919), and a "General Syrian Congress" of Arabs from the whole Fertile
Crescent recommended that France be excluded from the area, that Syria-Palestine be
joined to form a single state with Feisal as king, that the Zionists be excluded from
Palestine in any political role, as well as other points, a meeting of the Great Powers at
San Remo in April 1920 set up two French and two British mandates. Syria and Lebanon
went to France, while Iraq and Palestine (including Transjordan) went to Britain. There
were Arab uprisings and great local unrest following these decisions. The resistance in
Syria was crushed by the French, who then advanced to occupy' the interior of Syria and
sent Feisal into exile. The British, who by this time were engaged in a rivalry (over
petroleum resources and other issues) with the French, set Feisal up as king in Iraq under
British protection (1921) and placed his brother Abdullah in a similar position as King of
Transjordan (1923). The father of the two new kings, Hussein, was attacked by Ibn-Saud
of Nejd and forced to abdicate in 1924. His kingdom of Hejaz was annexed by Ibn-Saud
in 1924.

After 1932 this whole area was known as Saudi Arabia.

The most important diplomatic event of the latter part of the First World War was the
intervention of the United States on the side of the Entente Powers in April 1917. The
causes of this event have been analyzed at great length. In general there have been four
chief reasons given for the intervention from four quite different points of view. These
might be summarized as follows: (1) The German submarine attacks on neutral shipping
made it necessary for the United States to go to war to secure "freedom of the seas"; (2)
the United States was influenced by subtle British propaganda conducted in drawing
rooms, universities, and the press of the eastern part of the country where Anglophilism
was rampant among the more influential social groups; (3) the United States was
inveigled into the war by a conspiracy of international bankers and munitions
manufacturers eager to protect their loans to the Entente Powers or their wartime profits
from sales to these Powers; and (4) Balance of Power principles made it impossible for
the United States to allow Great Britain to be defeated by Germany. Whatever the weight
of these four in the final decision, it is quite clear that neither the government nor the
people of the United States were prepared to accept a defeat of the Entente at the hands of
the Central Powers. Indeed, in spite of the government's efforts to act with a certain
semblance of neutrality, it was clear in 1914 that this was the view of the chief leaders in
the government with the single exception of Secretary of State William Jennings Bryan.
Without analyzing the four factors mentioned above, it is quite clear that the United
States could not allow Britain to be defeated by any other Power. Separated from all other
Great Powers by the Atlantic and Pacific oceans, the security of America required either
that the control of those oceans be in its own hands or in the hands of a friendly Power.



For almost a century before 1917 the United States had been willing to allow British
control of the sea to go unchallenged, because it was clear that British control of the sea
provided no threat to the United States, but on the contrary, provided security for the
United States at a smaller cost in wealth and responsibility than security could have been
obtained by any other method. The presence of Canada as a British territory adjacent to
the United States, and exposed to invasion by land from the United States, constituted a
hostage for British naval behavior acceptable to the United States. The German
submarine assault on Britain early in 1917 drove Britain close to the door of starvation by
its ruthless sinking of the merchant shipping upon which Britain's existence depended.
Defeat of Britain could not be permitted because the United States was not prepared to
take over control of the sea itself and could not permit German control of the sea because
it had no assurance regarding the nature of such German control. The fact that the
German submarines w-ere acting in retaliation for the illegal British blockade of the
continent of Europe and British violations of international law and neutral rights on the
high seas, the fact that the Anglo-Saxon heritage of the United States and the
Anglophilism of its influential classes made it impossible for the average American to see
world events except through the spectacles made by British propaganda; the fact that
Americans had lent the Entente billions of dollars which would be jeopardized by a
German victory, the fact that the enormous Entente purchases of war materiel had created
a boom of prosperity and inflation which would collapse the very day that the Entente
collapsed— all these factors were able to bring weight to bear on the American decision
only because the balance-of-power issue laid a foundation on which they could work. The
important fact was that Britain was close to defeat in April 1917, and on that basis the
United States entered the war. The unconscious assumption by American leaders that an
Entente victory was both necessary and inevitable was at the bottom of their failure to
enforce the same rules of neutrality and international law against Britain as against
Germany. They constantly assumed that British violations of these rules could be
compensated with monetary damages, while German violations of these rules must be
resisted, by force if necessary. Since they could not admit this unconscious assumption or
publicly defend the legitimate basis of international power politics on which it rested,
they finally went to war on an excuse which w as legally weak, although emotionally
satisfying. As John Bassett Moore, America's most famous international lawyer, put it,
"What most decisively contributed to the involvement of the United States in the war was
the assertion of a right to protect belligerent ships on which Americans saw fit to travel
and the treatment of armed belligerent merchantmen as peaceful vessels. Both
assumptions were contrary to reason and to settled law, and no other professed neutral
advanced them."

The Germans at first tried to use the established rules of international law regarding
destruction of merchant vessels. This proved so dangerous, because of the peculiar
character of the submarine itself, British control of the high seas, the British instructions
to merchant ships to attack submarines, and the difficulty of distinguishing between
British ships and neutral ships, that most German submarines tended to attack without
warning. American protests reached a peak when the Lusitania was sunk in this way nine
miles off the English coast on May 7, 1915. The Lusitania was a British merchant vessel
"constructed with Government funds as [an] auxiliary cruiser, . . . expressly included in



the navy list published by the British Admiralty,” with "bases laid for mounting guns of
six-inch caliber," carrying a cargo of 2,400 cases of rifle cartridges and 1,250 cases of
shrapnel, and with orders to attack German submarines whenever possible. Seven
hundred and eighty-five of 1,257 passengers, including 128 of 197 Americans, lost their
lives. The incompetence of the acting captain contributed to the heavy loss, as did also a
mysterious "second explosion" after the German torpedo struck. The vessel, which had
been declared "unsinkable,” went down in eighteen minutes. The captain was on a course
he had orders to avoid; he was running at reduced speed; he had an inexperienced crew;
the portholes had been left open; the lifeboats had not been swung out; and no lifeboat
drills had been held.

The propaganda agencies of the Entente Powers made full use of the occasion. The
Times of London announced that "four-fifths of her passengers were citizens of the
United States" (the actual proportion was 15.6 percent); the British manufactured and
distributed a medal which they pretended had been awarded to the submarine crew by the
German government; a French paper published a picture of the crowds in Berlin at the
outbreak of war in 1914 as a picture of Germans "rejoicing” at news of the sinking of the
Lusitania.

The United States protested violently against the submarine warfare while brushing
aside German arguments based on the British blockade. It was so irreconcilable in these
protests that Germany sent Wilson a note on May 4, 1916, in which it promised that "in
the future merchant vessels within and without the war zone shall not be sunk without
warning and without safeguarding human lives, unless these ships attempt to escape or
offer resistance.” In return the German government hoped that the United States would
put pressure on Britain to follow the established rules of international law in regard to
blockade and freedom of the sea. Wilson refused to do so. Accordingly, it became clear
to the Germans that they would he starved into defeat unless they could defeat Britain
first by unrestricted submarine warfare. Since they were aware that resort to this method
would probably bring the United States into the war against them, they made another
effort to negotiate peace before resorting to it. When their offer to negotiate, made on
December 12, 1916, was rejected hy the Entente Powers on December 27th, the group in
the German government which had been advocating ruthless submarine warfare came
into a position to control affairs, and ordered the resumption of unrestricted submarine
attacks on February 1, 1917. Wilson was notified of this decision on January 31st. He
broke off diplomatic relations with Germany on February 3rd, and, after two months of
indecision, asked the Congress for a declaration of war April 3, 1917. The final decision
was influenced by the constant pressure of his closest associates, the realization that
Britain was reaching the end of her resources of men, money, and ships, and the
knowledge that Germany was planning to seek an alliance with Mexico if war began.

While the diplomacy of neutrality and intervention was moving along the lines we
have described, a parallel diplomatic effort was being directed toward efforts to negotiate
peace. These efforts were a failure but are, nonetheless, of considerable significance
because they reveal the motivations and war aims of the belligerents. They were a failure
because any negotiated peace requires a willingness on both sides to make those



concessions which will permit the continued survival of the enemy. In 1914-1918,
however, in order to win public support for total mobilization, each country's propaganda
had been directed toward a total victory for itself and total defeat for the enemy. In time,
both sides became so enmeshed in their own propaganda that it became impossible to
admit publicly one's readiness to accept such lesser aims as any negotiated peace would
require. Moreover, as the tide of battle waxed and waned, giving alternate periods of
elation and discouragement to both sides, the side which was temporarily elated became
increasingly attached to the fetish of total victory and unwilling to accept the lesser aim
of a negotiated peace. Accordingly, peace became possible only when war weariness had
reached the point where one side concluded that even defeat was preferable to
continuation of the war. This point was reached in Russia in 1917 and in Germany and
Austria in 1918. In Germany this point of view was greatly reinforced by the realization
that military defeat and political change were preferable to the economic revolution and
social upheaval which would accompany any effort to continue the war in pursuit of an
increasingly unattainable victory.

From the various efforts to negotiate peace it is clear that Britain was unwilling to
accept any peace which would not include the restoration of Belgium or which would
leave Germany supreme on the Continent or in a position to resume the commercial,
naval, and colonial rivalry which had existed before 1914; France was unwilling to accept
any solution which did not restore Alsace-Lorraine to her; the German High Command
and the German industrialists were determined not to give up all the occupied territory in
the west, but were hoping to retain Lorraine, part of Alsace, Luxembourg, part of
Belgium, and Longwy in France because of the mineral and industrial resources of these
areas. The fact that Germany had an excellent supply of coking coal with an inadequate
supply of iron ore, while the occupied areas had plenty of the latter but an inadequate
supply of the former, had a great deal to do with the German objections to a negotiated
peace and the ambiguous terms in which their war aims were discussed. Austria was,
until the death of Emperor Francis Joseph in 1916, unwilling to accept any peace which
would leave the Slavs, especially the Serbs, free to continue their nationalistic agitations
for the disintegration of the Habsburg Empire. On the other hand, Italy was determined to
exclude the Habsburg Empire from the shores of the Adriatic Sea, while the Serbs were
even more determined to reach those shores by the acquisition of Habsburg-ruled Slav
areas in the Western Balkans. After the Russian revolutions of 19,7, many of these
obstacles to a negotiated peace became weaker. The Vatican, working through Cardinal
Pacelli (later Pope Pius XII) sought a negotiated peace which would prevent the
destruction of the Habsburg Empire, the last Catholic Great Power in Europe. Prominent
men in all countries, like Lord Lansdowne (British foreign secretary before 1914),
became so alarmed at the spread of Socialism that they were willing to make almost any
concessions to stop the destruction of civilized ways of life by continued warfare.
Humanitarians like Henry Ford or Romain Rolland became increasingly alarmed at the
continued slaughter. But, for the reasons we have already mentioned, peace remained
elusive until the great German offensives of 1918 had been broken.

After what Ludendorff called "the black day of the German Army" (August 8, 1918), a
German Crown Council, meeting at Spa, decided victory was no longer possible, and



decided to negotiate for an armistice. This was not done because of a controversy
between the crown prince and Ludendorff in which the former advised an immediate
retreat to the "Hindenburg Line" twenty miles to the rear, while the latter wished to make
a slow withdrawal so that the Entente could not organize an attack on the Hindenburg
Line before winter. Two Entente victories, at Saint-Quentin (August 31st) and in Flanders
(September 2nd) made this dispute moot. The Germans began an involuntary retreat,
drenching the ground they evacuated with "mustard gas" in order to slow up the Entente
pursuit, especially the tanks. The German High Command removed the chancellor,
Hertling, and put in the more democratic Prince Max of Baden with orders to make an
immediate armistice or face military disaster (September 29-October 1, 1918). On
October Sth a German note to President Wilson asked for an armistice on the basis of the
Fourteen Points of January 8, 1918, and his subsequent principles of September 27, 1918.
These statements of Wilson had captured the imaginations of idealistic persons and
subject peoples everywhere. The Fourteen Points promised the end of secret diplomacy;
freedom of the seas:; freedom of commerce; disarmament; a fair settlement of colonial
claims, with the interests of the native peoples receiving equal weight with the titles of
imperialist Powers: the evacuation of Russia; the evacuation and restoration of Belgium;
the evacuation of France and the restoration to her of Alsace-Lorraine as in 1870; the
readjustment of the Italian frontiers on nationality lines; free and autonomous
development for the peoples of the Habsburg Empire; the evacuation, restoration, and
guarantee of Romania, Montenegro, and Serbia, with the last-named securing free access
to the sea; international guarantees to keep the Straits permanently opened to the ships
and commerce of all nations; freedom for the autonomous development of the non-
Turkish nationalities of the Ottoman Empire, along with a secure sovereignty for the
Turks themselves; an independent Polish state with free access to the sea and with
international guarantees: a League of Nations to afford "mutual guarantees of political
independence and territorial integrity to great and small states alike"; and no destruction
of Germany or even any alteration of her institutions except those necessary to make it
clear when her spokesmen spoke for the Reichstag majority and when they "speak for the
military party and the men whose creed is imperial domination."

In a series of notes between Germany and the United States, Wilson made it clear that
he would grant an armistice only if Germany would withdraw from all occupied territory,
make an end to submarine attacks, accept the Fourteen Points, establish a responsible
government, and accept terms which would preserve the existing Entente military
superiority. He was most insistent on the responsible government, warning that if he had
to deal "with military masters or monarchical autocrats” he would demand "not
negotiations but surrender.” The German constitution was changed to give all powers to
the Reichstag: Ludendorff was fired: the German Navy at Kiel mutinied, and the Kaiser
fled from Berlin (October 28th). In the meantime, the Entente Supreme War Council
refused to accept the Fourteen Points as the basis for peace until Colonel House
threatened that the United States would makes a separate peace with Germany. They then
demanded and received a definition of the meaning of each term, made a reservation on
"the freedom of the seas," and expanded the meaning of "restoration of invaded territory"
to include compensation to the civilian population for their war losses. On this basis an
armistice commission met German negotiators on November 7th. The German



Revolution was spreading, and the Kaiser abdicated on November 8th. The German
negotiators received the Entente military terms and asked for an immediate ending of
hostilities and of the economic blockade and a reduction in the Entente demand for
machine guns from 30,000 to 25,000 on the grounds that the difference of 5,000 was
needed to suppress the German Revolution. The last point was conceded, but the other
two refused. The armistice was signed on November 11, 1918, at 5:00 a.m. to take effect
at 11:00 a.m. It provided that the Germans must evacuate all occupied territory (including
Alsace-Lorraine) within fourteen days, and the left bank of the Rhine plus three
bridgeheads on the right bank within thirty-one days, that they surrender huge specified
amounts of war equipment, trucks, locomotives, all submarines, the chief naval vessels,
all prisoners of war, and captured merchant ships, as w-ell as the Baltic fortresses, and all
valuables and securities taken in occupied territory, including the Russian and Romanian
gold reserves. The Germans were also required to renounce the treaties of Brest-Litovsk
and of Bucharest, which they had imposed on Russia and on Romania, and to promise to
repair the damage of occupied territories. This last point was of considerable importance,
as the Germans had systematically looted or destroyed the areas they evacuated in the last
few months of the war.

The negotiations with Wilson leading up to the Armistice of 1918 are of great
significance, since they formed one of the chief factors in subsequent German resentment
at the Treaty of Versailles. In these negotiations Wilson had clearly promised that the
peace treaty with Germany would be negotiated and would be based on the Fourteen
Points; as we shall see, the Treaty of Versailles was imposed without negotiation, and the
Fourteen Points fared very poorly in its provisions. An additional factor connected with
these events lies in the subsequent claim of the German militarists that the German Army
was never defeated but was "stabbed in the back" by the home front through a
combination of international Catholics, international Jews, and international Socialists.
There is no merit whatever in these contentions. The German Army was clearly beaten in
the field; the negotiations for an armistice were commenced by the civilian government at
the insistence of the High Command, and the Treaty of Versailles itself was subsequently
signed, rather than rejected, at the insistence of the same High Command in order to
avoid a military occupation of Germany. By these tactics the German Army was able to
escape the military occupation of Germany which they so dreaded. Although the last
enemy forces did not leave German soil until 1931, no portions of Germany were
occupied beyond those signified in the armistice itself (the Rhineland and the three
bridgeheads on the right hank of the Rhine) except for a brief occupation of the Ruhr
district in 1932.

Chapter 14—The Home Front, 1914-1918

The First World War was a catastrophe of such magnitude that, even today, the
imagination has some difficulty grasping it. In the year 1916, in two battles (Verdun and
the Somme) casualties of over 1,700,000 were suffered by both sides. In the artillery
barrage which opened the French attack on Chemin des Dames in April 1917, 11,000,000
shells were fired on a 30-mile front in 10 days. Three months later, on an 11-mile front at
Passchendaele, the British fired 4,250,000 shells costing £22.000,000 in a preliminary



